No. 67711-0-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

MADHURI PATEL,

Appellants and Cross-Respondents,

V.

KENT SCHOOL DISTRICT,

Respondent and Cross-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY WASHINGTON HONORABLE HOLLIS HILL

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

HAGENS BERMAN SOBOL SHAPIRO LLP David P. Moody, WSBA #22853 Marty D. McLean, WSBA #33269 1918 Eighth Avenue, Suite 3300 Seattle, Washington 98101

7[1] 1 22 FH 1: 29

I. INTRODUCTION

This case involves claims brought by two plaintiffs: (1) Amanda Hingorani ("Amanda"); and (2) Madhuri Patel ("Ms. Patel"). Amanda is developmentally disabled. Ms. Patel is Amanda's mother. Plaintiffs' claims involve injuries that occurred when Amanda was a student in the Kent School District ("KSD" or "Defendant"). The facts are straight forward. The claims are not complex.

Defendant knew Amanda since she was three years old, when it first classified Amanda as "mentally retarded." Amanda participated in Defendants' Special Education Program since the 1st grade. Amanda remained in Special Education throughout her academic career.

During Amanda's freshman and sophomore years in high school,
Defendant received many warnings to keep Amanda safe at school
("especially [at] bathroom time"). In response, Defendant acknowledged
that Amanda would be closely supervised and protected at school
("supervised at all times" "throughout her school day" "under complete
adult supervision throughout her school day").

Nonetheless, Amanda was sexually molested (oral, anal, digital penetration) many times in the boys' bathroom, during class. The class was comprised of only seven special education students, with three adult instructors. Despite the luxurious student/teacher ratio, the classroom

teacher admits that "not one of the three adults in the class had any inkling of what was going on."

Trial started in June 2011. Plaintiffs' case took four days. The trial court permitted the trial to stretch an additional *four weeks*. Lacking discipline in the extreme, the trial court failed to manage the courtroom, and consistently demonstrated a haphazard approach to decision-making. Most importantly, the trial court generated a constellation of reversible legal errors. This brief is limited to seven of those legal errors – each requiring a new trial.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

A. Assignments of Error

- 1. The Trial Court Erred by Refusing to Grant Parental Immunity.
- The Trial Court Erred by Allowing the Jury to Diminish Amanda's Damages based Upon the Alleged Fault of a Parent.
- 3. The Trial Court Erred by Submitting Inconsistent Jury Instructions and Special Verdict Forms.
- 4. The Trial Court Erred in its Application of Evidence Rule 412.
- The Trial Court Erred by Excluding Evidence that Amanda is Legally Incapacitated.
- 6. The Trial Court Erred by Instructing the Jury on Criminal Standards in a Case Involving Civil Claims.

7. The Trial Court Erred In Denying Plaintiffs' Motion to Amend the Complaint.

B. Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

- 1. The Washington Supreme Court recognizes that a parent is not liable for ordinary negligence in the performance of parental responsibilities. Over Plaintiffs' objection, Defendant was allowed to argue that a mother was negligent in failing to protect her daughter from harm which occurred at a public school. Did the trial court err in refusing to grant parental immunity?
- 2. Under Washington's comparative fault statutes, even when parental immunity is denied, the fault of a parent cannot be used to reduce damages claimed by a child. The trial court provided a special verdict form allowing the jury to conclude that a mother's negligence may reduce or nullify the damages claimed by Amanda. Did the trial court err in light of Washington law's clear mandate that the fault of a parent cannot reduce damages claimed by a child?
- Jury instructions and special verdict forms are required to be consistent, avoid confusing the jury and inform the trier of fact of the applicable law. The trial court instructed the jury that it could not consider the alleged negligence of the mother when assessing Amanda's damages. However, the trial court's special verdict form allowed the jury to find that the alleged negligence of the mother could reduce or nullify Amanda's damages. Did the trial court err in providing a special verdict form that was inconsistent with the jury instructions?
- 4. Evidence Rule 412 requires the exclusion of evidence or argument regarding an alleged rape victim's sexual history or to prove sexual predisposition. The presumptive exclusion can only be overcome if the Court finds that its probative value substantially outweighs the danger of harm to any victim and unfair prejudice to any party. Did the trial court err by allowing Defendant to introduce evidence that Amanda previously sought birth control and

- allegations that she had been molested by a cousin several years prior to the incidents giving rise to her claims?
- 5. At trial, the parties disputed whether Amanda, a developmentally disabled special education student, had the legal capacity to consent to sex. On this issue, Plaintiffs offered a King County Superior Court order which declares that Amanda is legally incapacitated and in need of full guardianship. Did the trial court err in excluding this Order while simultaneously allowing the Defendant to argue that Amanda had legal capacity to consent to sex?
- 6. Plaintiffs brought civil claims for state law negligence and failure to report child abuse pursuant to RCW 26.44. The trial court instructed the jury on the Washington Criminal Code's definition of consensual sex and mental incapacity. Did the trial court err in giving criminal jury instructions in a civil action?
- 7. Prior to trial, Plaintiffs sought to amend the Complaint to add claims under RCW 74.34, the Abuse of Vulnerable Adult Act. RCW 74.34 defines a vulnerable adult to include all persons with developmental disabilities, regardless of age. It is undisputed that Amanda is developmentally disabled. Did the trial court err in denying Plaintiffs' motion to amend?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Factual Background

Amanda was a student in the Kent School District for her entire academic career where she was always classified as mentally retarded.

Exs. 1, 6; CP 2104-2118. Amanda was diagnosed with cognitive and intellectual delays when she was three years old and never received a Full Scale Intelligence Quotient ("FSIQ") score higher than 71. Ex. 2; CP 2099-2102. Amanda participated in the Special Education Program since

the 1st grade and remained eligible for special education services throughout her academic career.

In March 2006, while enrolled in the 9th grade at Kentridge High School ("KHS"), Amanda was evaluated by KSD to assist in preparing her Individualized Education Program ("IEP"). The District's evaluation found that: (1) Amanda had an FSIQ of 68, placing her in the "Extremely Low" range for her age (in the bottom 2% of her peers); (2) Amanda scored a 71 on the Vineland Adaptive Behavior test (exceeding only 3% of her peers in social and behavioral skills); and (3) Amanda's adaptive and cognitive skills continued to be consistent with a person functioning in the range of mental retardation. Ex. 6; CP 2104-2118.

During the 2006 evaluation, Amanda's mother, Ms. Patel, specifically warned officials at KHS that Amanda often exhibited unsafe behaviors and required near constant supervision. *Id.* The staff at KHS acknowledged that "Amanda is not aware of the potential danger of situations and does not necessarily use caution when encountering risky social situations." *Id.*

Shortly after Ms. Patel's warnings, Amanda was financially and sexually exploited at KHS. In April 2006, Ms. Patel found a note that a classmate sent to Amanda. CP 240. The note showed that Amanda was

coaxed to steal money from her mother's wallet in exchange for friendship, affection and sex. Ex. 7; CP 260-261.

Upon finding this letter, Ms. Patel contacted staff at KHS to discuss her concerns. CP 240-241. On April 26, 2006, Ms. Patel met with Assistant Principal Eric Hong, School Counselor Jeff Vanderport and David Fowler (school security). *Id.* Ms. Patel warned that her developmentally disabled daughter was being extorted and sexually victimized by other students at school. Assistant Principal Hong took no action regarding the incident because he was not convinced of the veracity of Ms. Patel's allegations. *Id.*

Ms. Patel returned home and printed out emails demonstrating the exploitation of Amanda which lasted from at least November 2005 through April 2006. The emails retrieved by Ms. Patel revealed graphic examples of the exploitation suffered by Amanda while a student at KHS, including: (1) five months of threatening emails sent by other KHS students to Amanda; (2) financial extortion in exchange for friendship and sex; and (3) evidence that Amanda was the victim of sexual victimization in the bathrooms at KHS during school hours. Ex. 75; CP 1207-1224.

Ms. Patel requested a second meeting with the administration at KHS. On April 27, 2006, Ms. Patel provided KHS officials with further documentation of Amanda's exploitation. Ex. 9. Ms. Patel specifically

warned KHS staff that Amanda was being sexually victimized at school. Exs. 9, 47-49; CP 1273, 1275, 1277-1278. Amanda was pulled from her mainstream classes and a "no contact" order was implemented between Amanda and the other students involved. Ex. 13. Ms. Patel removed Amanda from KHS until an appropriate plan of supervision was established.

On April 28, 2006, Sally McLurg, the school psychologist for KHS, wrote that her recent evaluation showed that Amanda "cannot function safely and independently in the IP [integrated placement] setting because she is being victimized[.]" Ex. 11; CP 1133. Ms. McLurg also found that Amanda "does not have the skills necessary to make appropriate choices ... and/or to ask for help from teachers when she is in trouble." *Id.* Ms. McLurg concluded that Amanda "needs to be to be in a smaller class where teachers can monitor her safety[.]" *Id.* The same day, the KHS Special Education Department Chair, Jennifer Grajewski, agreed that Amanda should be given increased monitoring and protection from known dangers at school:

...given the situation of her being harassed and needing closer supervision, due to her inability to make good decisions and seek adult help, we need to move her. She is being victimized. Ex. 10; CP 1131.

Days later, on May 3, 2006, Amanda's special education teacher, Francine Wilhelm, wrote to Ms. Grajewski, school counselor Vanderport and Vice-Principal Edwards stating her impression that another student was "grooming Hingorani for possible mental, emotional, and physical/sexual abuse." Ex. 12; CP 1140. In the same e-mail, Ms. Wilhelm relayed a comment from KHS teacher Linda Kilpatrick about how Amanda had been treated, Ms. Kilpatrick saying "I have never seen anything like it." Ex. 12; CP 1140.

On May 5, 2006, a plan of supervision was established. Ex. 13; CP 282-284. The plan required KHS to provide one-on-one supervision for Amanda during school hours. *Id.* This plan remained in effect for Amanda's 9th grade year.

When she returned to begin her 10th grade year during fall 2006, the school did not immediately continue the supervision plan implemented at the end of Amanda's 9th Grade year. As a result, Ms. Patel requested a meeting to insist that KSD re-institute the supervision protocols.

On September 13, 2006, a meeting was held between Ms. Patel and KHS personnel, including Ms. Wilhelm, Amanda's teacher. This meeting was also attended by Marnee Crawford, a family counselor. Ex. 33.

Ms. Crawford warned KHS staff that "there were reasons to be concerned with Amanda's safety if she was left in any unsupervised times.

This included lunch, passing times, and <u>especially bathroom time</u>." Ex. 33.

Following the September 2006 meeting, Ms. Wilhelm wrote to Department Chair Grajewski about the issue of closer monitoring and escorting Amanda, stating "I want to write in a 1:1 [supervision on Amanda's IEP] based on the psych eval. from last year and the new information we have from the new therapist." Ex. 62; CP 1293.

On October 6, 2006, Ms. Wilhelm sent another e-mail to Ms. Grajewski regarding a phone conversation she had with Ms. Patel. In the e-mail, Ms. Wilhelm stated that Ms. Patel "confirmed [what] we have been suspecting: Amanda does not know the difference between right and wrong ... "Ex. 34; CP 1295.

Ms. Wilhelm also relayed Ms. Patel's request for "no physical contact between Amanda and any young man at school" (emphasis in original) then stated that:

Amanda's behavior very forcefully drove home to me the reality of why Madhuri wants her daughter with an adult at all times. Now I understand. This is not just a mother who is over protective. *Id*.

On October 17, 2006, a second meeting was held between Ms.

Patel and KHS staff. Issues discussed included: (1) Ms. Patel's ongoing concerns that Amanda's safety was in danger in light of the financial and

sexual exploitation which occurred during her 9th grade year; (2) Ms. Patel's warnings that Amanda remained vulnerable to exploitation and was easily taken advantage of; (3) Amanda's inability to know right from wrong; and (4) Amanda's inability to make safe decisions. Ex. 35; CP 2122-2146.

Ms. Patel again requested that the supervision plan instituted by KSD at the end of Amanda's 9th grade year be re-instituted for Amanda's 10th grade year. Because the plan of supervision was necessary to ensure Amanda's safety, Ms. Patel insisted upon its implementation as a precondition of Amanda's return to KHS. Ex. 30; CP 240-241; 1142.

In the agreement drafted at the October 17, 2006 meeting, KSD specifically acknowledged that, "Amanda is vulnerability [sic] to exploitation as file records indicate." Ex. 35; CP 2122-2146. Accordingly, KHS agreed to re-implement the one-on-one supervision plan. "In this way, staff is able to provide the safety and close monitoring needed." *Id*.

KHS told Ms. Patel that while Amanda was receiving special education instruction at least three adults were present in the classroom.

CP 241-242. These adults included Ms. Wilhelm and two additional adult classroom aides. *Id.* Additionally, Ms. Patel was assured that Amanda was required to use a bathroom specifically reserved for the female special

education students. Ms. Patel was also assured that Amanda would be accompanied to and from the bathroom by KHS staff. CP 242.

During this same period, Ms. Wilhelm documented additional examples of Amanda's vulnerability. For example, on February 2, 2007, Ms. Wilhelm noted that Amanda "will do anything to be involved" in social groups at school and did not understand the difference between "violent rape" and "desire or love." Ex. 39; CP 1148.

Ms. Wilhelm understood her obligation to supervise Amanda. Ms. Wilhelm wrote, "the agreement we have with Hingorani's mom is that [Amanda] be supervised at all times." Ex. 42. (emphasis added).

During this time period, the supervision provided by KHS began to unravel. By late April 2007, KHS abdicated its responsibility to protect and supervise Amanda by abandoning the supervision protocols. As a direct result, Amanda was repeatedly sexually victimized in the boys' bathroom during Ms. Wilhelm's class. Ex. 52.

On April 30, 2007, Ms. Wilhelm sent an e-mail to Ms. Grajewski noting that school administrator Molly King found Amanda and a male student "hugging" in the school hallway during class -- when each was supposed to be under Ms. Wilhelm's direct supervision. Ex. 44; CP 1263. After reviewing Ms. Wilhelm's message, Ms. Grajewski sent an

exclamatory response, "contact Amanda's mom and alert her about the bathroom incident! This is serious." *Id.*

On April 30, 2007, Ms. Wilhelm sent an e-mail to Ms. Patel regarding an incident involving Amanda and the male special education student. Ms. Wilhelm wrote, without providing detail, that "I have a report of some seriousness." Ex. 45; CP 1267. She informed Ms. Patel that a few days earlier, Ms. Wilhelm caught another student, "Matt," sneaking out of class immediately after Amanda left to use the bathroom. Ms. Wilhelm "assume[d] that [Amanda] may have been about to repeat some of the same behaviors in our bathroom with "Matt" that she engaged in last year." *Id*.

Ms. Patel became very concerned by the clear lack of supervision.

Ms. Patel asked Amanda about Ms. Wilhelm's report. Ex. 46; CP 1269.

Amanda disclosed that "Matt" had sex with her in the boy's bathroom located immediately next to Ms. Wilhelm's self-contained classroom on several occasions during Ms. Wilhelm's third period class. *Id.*

On May 2, 2007, Ms. Patel wrote to KHS Principal Mike Albrecht.

Ex. 47. She reminded him of her many meetings and discussions

concerning her disabled daughter's safety at KHS. "If you remember last

year I came to talk with you to get problems assessed and provide

supervision Amanda needed while attending school . . . I met with

teachers/special ED manager . . . many subsequent follow up . . . to have close supervision over my daughter due to her cognitive/intellectual deficits." *Id*.

Ms. Patel advised Mr. Albrecht that, while KHS failed to provide supervision for her daughter, Amanda was sexually victimized during Ms. Wilhelm's third period class. Ms. Patel concluded her email with this:

I feel school has not provided supervision she needs. She is a minor cannot consent, she has poor cognition she cannot consent, knowing Amanda has history with school with similar situation before why teacher would let her go to bathroom alone when thus has been requests to be watched over and over. I do not feel school is doing enough to keep her safe. I am taking my daughter out of school till I am reassured of her safety. *Id*.

Mr. Albrecht immediately forwarded the email he received from Ms. Patel to Vice-Principal Kim Edwards and the Special Education Chair (Ms. Grajewski). Mr. Albrecht simply wrote, "See me." *Id.*

Ms. Grajewski acknowledged that she and Ms. Edwards met with Ms. Patel "numerous times" and that "[Ms. Wilhelm] was instructed to have an IA with Amanda at all times." Ex. 47. Principal Albrecht agreed, writing "I thought that Amanda was under complete adult supervision throughout the entire day." Ex. 48. Vice-Principal Edwards also

expressed her belief that "we were under the impression that Amanda was under complete adult supervision throughout her school day." Ex. 49.

By the end of the day on May 2, 2007, Mr. Albrecht, Ms. Edwards, Ms. Wilhelm and Ms. Grajewski each had knowledge that Amanda -- a developmentally disabled, special education student at KHS -- had allegedly been sexually victimized in the bathroom during school hours. However, none of these administrators nor anyone else at KHS, called law enforcement to fulfill their legal duties as mandatory reporters.

According to a written and signed statement obtained by KHS staff, Mills admitted that he "had sexual relations with Amanda at least five times" between the months of March and April 2007 in the bathroom located next to Ms. Wilhelm's classroom. Ex. 52. Mills admitted that Amanda was repeated sexually victimized -- during third period class -- while under the supervision of the KHS Special Education Department. *Id.* School officials never asked Amanda for a statement about these incidents. RP 2795.

In an email dated May 3, 2007, Ms. Wilhelm acknowledges that the restroom in which Mills admits to engaging in sex acts with Amanda "is right next door to the classroom." Ex. 47. However, Ms. Wilhelm admits that "not one of the three adults in the class had any inkling of what was going on." Ex. 47. Ms. Wilhelm's third period class was comprised

of seven special education students, with three adult instructors. RP 3318-3319.

On June 18, 2008, Plaintiffs filed a Complaint for Damages against KSD. CP 9-25. Plaintiffs alleged two causes of action pertaining to KSD: (1) negligence; and (2) failure to report child abuse and/or neglect pursuant to RCW 26.44. CP 22, 24.

Trial commenced on June 13, 2011 and lasted more than six weeks. CP. 2378-2448. On July 27, 2011, the jury found that both KSD and Ms. Patel were negligent on the special verdict form reflecting Amanda's claims. CP 2445. The jury also concluded that both KSD and Ms. Patel failed to report allegations that Amanda had been abused and/or neglected, as required by RCW 26.44. CP 2446.

As briefed below, the trial court's inclusion of Ms. Patel on Amanda's verdict form, and its submission of conflicting and inapplicable jury instructions, impermissibly allowed KSD to argue that Ms. Patel's alleged fault should negate Amanda's damages.

Compounding the error, the trial court allowed the Defendant to deny causation by introducing evidence of Amanda's sexual history, sexual predisposition and birth control.

Although the trial court allowed the Defendant to put Amanda's sexual history on trial to establish Amanda's alleged ability to "consent to

sex," the trial court excluded its own Order which determines that Amanda is legally incapacitated and in need of a full guardianship.

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