67711-0

1

No. 67711-0-1

### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION 1

#### MADHURI PATEL,

Appellants and Cross-Respondents,

v.

#### KENT SCHOOL DISTRICT,

Respondent and Cross-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON HONORABLE HOLLIS HILL



NORTHCRAFT, BIGBY & BIGGS, P.C. Mark S. Northcraft, WSBA #7888 Andrew T. Biggs, WSBA #11746 James R. Morrison, WSBA #43043 819 Virginia Street, Suite C-2 Seattle, WA 98101



##

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

#### **III. ARGUMENT**

#### A. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY RULED THAT FAULT MUST BE APPORTIONED TO THE MOTHER, AN IMMUNE PARTY.

As this Court is well aware, before the tort reform statutes came into effect, Washington had a system of joint and several liability, whereby defendants who were liable to a plaintiff for an indivisible harm were each liable for the entire harm done, regardless of their proportionate fault. *Seattle First Nat. Bank v. Shoreline Concrete Co.*, 91 Wn.2d 230, 588 P.2d 1308 (1978). In 1986, the legislature completely revised that outdated scheme, by enacting RCW 4.22.070, which requires a jury to determine the percentage of total fault attributable to *every entity which caused the claimant's damages* with the single exception of entities immune from liability to the claimant under Title 51 RCW [Industrial Insurance]. The statute provides a mechanism to distribute fault among tortfeasors, and it expressly states that allocation of fault is done for immune parties. Laws of 1986, ch. 305, RCW 4.22.070. The clear language of the statute tells us that defendants cannot be forced to pay for damages caused by immune parties. In the case at hand, the District is only liable for its proportionate share of the fault, taking into account the fault of all parties, including dismissed parties such as KYFS and the counselors, and immune parties, such as parents.

Washington recognizes the limited parental immunity doctrine, whereby parents are immune from claims by their children unless their behavior rises to the level of wanton misconduct." *Zellmer v. Zellmer*, 164 Wn.2d 147, 154, 188 P.3d 497 (2008). *Jenkins v. Snohomish Cy. PUD 1*, 105 Wn.2d 99, 105, 713 P.2d 79 (1986) (citations omitted). Parental immunity also acts to bar contribution and indemnity actions against parents to recover for awards to their children. *See Jenkins*, 105 Wn.2d 99; *Baughn v. Honda Motor Co.*, 105 Wn.2d 118, 119, 712 P.2d 293 (1986). The parental immunity cases tell us that (1) children may not sue their parents for negligence, and (2) defendants may not obtain indemnity or contribution from parents.

Here, the plaintiffs are attempting to persuade this court that – simply because a parent has parental immunity – fault may not be allocated under RCW 4.22.070. That argument is patently incorrect and it is contrary to both the intent and the clear language of the statute, which requires juries to determine the fault of immune parties. It is important to note that no Washington court has ever agreed with the plaintiffs' position. The plaintiffs' reliance on *Chhuth v. George*, 43 Wn. App. 640, 719 P.2d 562 (1986) is misguided. *Chhuth* was decided prior to RCW 4.22.070 being enacted,<sup>6</sup> and Washington did not even have its current system of apportioning fault when *Chhuth* was decided. The discussion of apportioning fault in *Chhuth* actually refers to a contribution action against a parent, which is clearly barred by parental immunity. *Id.* at 646-47. Similarly, none of the other cases cited by the plaintiffs address allocation of fault pursuant to RCW 4.22.070. *See Jenkins v. Snohomish Cy. PUD 1*, 105 Wn.2d 99, 713 P.2d 79 (1986); *Baughn v. Honda Motor Co.*, 105 Wn.2d 118, 712 P.2d 293 (1986); *Cox v. Hugo*, 52 Wn.2d 815, 329 P.2d 467 (1958); *Gregg v. King County*, 80 Wn. 196, 141 P. 340 (1914); *Adamson v. Traylor*, 60 Wn.2d 332, 373 P.2d 961 (1962).

There was never an issue at trial as to whether Ms. Patel was entitled to parental immunity, because neither her daughter nor any defendant sought damages from Ms. Patel. The only question was whether fault could be allocated to a parent, and the Court reached the obvious conclusion that fault is properly allocated to parents. The Court

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The Tort Reform Act of 1986 took effect on August 1, 1986. Laws of 1986, ch. 305, 910. *Chhuth* was decided on April 29, 1986. 43 Wn. App. 640.

recognized that allocating fault reaches the desired effect of having a defendant such as the District only pay for its own share of fault, and not the percentage of fault attributable to a parent. The parent remains immune, and she is not subject to an award of damages. The effect of the allocation is on the defendant; the defendant cannot be forced to pay the portion of damages allocated to an immune party.

Further, Ms. Patel had her own individual negligence claim against the District, so the jury had to consider her own fault for the comparative negligence issues. Ms. Patel's individual claims are subject to the normal rule that contributory fault diminishes her claim pursuant to RCW 4.22.005. The District thus was properly allowed to discuss Ms. Patel's fault for Amanda's damages.

#### B. RCW 4.22.020 DOES NOT BEAR ON THIS CASE, NOR DOES IT AFFECT ALLOCATION OF FAULT TO A PARENT.

The plaintiffs incorrectly argue that RCW 4.22.020 overrides the tort reform act and prevents a defendant from allocating fault to a parent. Before the tort reform statutes came into effect, Washington had a system of joint and several liability, whereby defendants who were liable to a plaintiff for an indivisible harm were each liable for the entire harm done, regardless of their proportionate fault. *Seattle First Nat. Bank v. Shoreline Concrete Co.*, 91 Wn.2d 230, 588 P.2d 1308 (1978). Generally,

contributory fault of a plaintiff was a complete bar to recovery prior to 1981. *Christensen v. Royal Sch. Dist.*, 156 Wn.2d 62, 66, 124 P.3d 283 (2005). However, a minor child's claim would not be barred by the contributory fault of a *parent*, in an action brought by a minor child against a third party. *Poston v. Mathers*, 77 Wn.2d 329, 462 P.2d 222 (1969); *Griffin v. Gehret*, 17 Wn. App. 546, 564 P.2d 332 (1977). In other words, the child's own claim would not be barred simply because one of the child's parents was partially at fault for the injury (the parent's negligence is not imputed onto the child).

The general rule was codified in 1973 by RCW 4.22.020; at first the statute only applied to actions brought by spouses against third parties, but in 1981 it was amended to include claims brought by minor children:

The contributory fault of one spouse shall not be *imputed* to the other spouse or the minor child of the spouse to diminish recovery in an action by the other spouse or the minor child of the spouse, or his or her legal representative, to recover damages caused by fault resulting in death or in injury to the person or property, whether separate or community, of the spouse. In an action brought for wrongful death, the contributory fault of the decedent shall be imputed to the claimant in that action.

RCW 4.22.020 (1973), RCW 4.22.020 (1981) (emphasis added). Notably, when the references to claims brought by minor children were added, the legislature added the language "of the spouse" to the end of the first sentence. The statute served to clarify that the fault of a parent or spouse

would not be imputed to another. The statute was important because it kept defendants from arguing that the negligence of one party could be imputed to another – which was historically important in intra-spouse and intra-family situations, where imputation can sometimes be applied. As Division One of the Court of Appeals described (prior to the Tort Reform Act of 1986), the statute merely dictates that husbands and wives will be treated like everyone else in tort law. *Vasey v. Vasey*, 44 Wn. App. 83, 96, 721 P.2d 524 (1986). There is no disparity of treatment which can form the basis of a constitutional challenge. *Id.* 

As the Court will surely notice, the case at hand does not involve *imputation* of fault between family members; it involves nothing more than the garden-variety method of allocating fault among at-fault parties. The Court should not be confused by the plaintiffs' attempt to apply RCW 4.22.020 to this case. The concept of imputing fault to another family member is an entirely different concept than the tort reform method of allocating fault between entities. The allocation must be made to all entities with immunity, such as parents protected by parental immunity.

In simple terms, *every* plaintiff's damages are reduced by the proportionate fault of released and immune parties. That has been the case for nearly thirty years; plaintiffs – whether they are children or not – cannot force defendants to pay damages that are attributable to other

entities, even if those entities are immune from suit. Here, the School District pays for only its own share of damages. That is truly one of the hallmarks of the tort reform legislation: defendants do not pay 100% of the damages if there are other entities which are also at fault.

The Washington Pattern Jury Instructions clearly describe the allocation process to be used in every case in which released and immune entities share fault with a defendant. For example, instructions state that the contributory negligence of a parent affects the claim of the parent only, but does not affect the claim of a child, which is in conformity with the statutory scheme; a parent's negligence affects only that parent's claim, and a child's comparative negligence only affects the child's claim. The negligence of one is not imputed to the other. The plaintiffs' reliance on RCW 4.22.020 is simply misplaced.

Statutory interpretation involves questions of law that the court of appeals reviews de novo. *In re Blessing*, 174 Wn.2d 228, 231, 273 P.3d 975 (2012). If the statute's meaning is plain on its face, then the court must give effect to that plain meaning as an expression of legislative intent. *Id.* Plain meaning is discerned from the ordinary meaning of the language at issue, the context of the statute in which the provision is found, related provisions, and the statutory scheme as a whole. *Id.* If a statute is susceptible to two or more reasonable interpretations, it is

ambiguous. *Burton v. Lehman*, 153 Wn.2d 416, 423, 103 P.3d 1230 (2005). If a statute is ambiguous, the court may look to the legislative history of the statute and the circumstances surrounding its enactment to determine legislative intent. *Rest. Dev., Inc. v. Cananwill, Inc.*, 150 Wn.2d 674, 682, 80 P.3d 598 (2003).

Statutes must be construed so that all the language is given effect and no portion is rendered meaningless or superfluous. *Kilian v. Atkinson*, 147 Wn.2d 16, 21, 50 P.3d 638 (2002). The court must also avoid constructions that yield unlikely, absurd or strained consequences. *Id.* To resolve apparent conflicts between statutes courts generally give preference to the more specific and more recently enacted statute. *Gorman v. Garlock, Inc.*, 155 Wn.2d 198, 210, 118 P.3d 311 (2005). Courts may not read into a statute matters that are not in it. *Id.* Courts do not favor repeal by implication but where potentially conflicting acts can be harmonized, the court construes each to maintain the integrity of the other. *City of Spokane v. Rothwell*, 166 Wn.2d 872, 877, 215 P.3d 162 (2009). But where the conflict is irreconcilable, a more recent statute takes priority over an older statute. *Id.* 

As noted above, the question of the mother's own negligence was an important, necessary, and proper part of the work the jury did in this case. With only their own speculative conclusions as support, the plaintiffs incorrectly argue that the jury instructions were somehow misleading or confusing. The jury instructions were proper.

On appeal, civil jury instructions are reviewed de novo, to determine whether they permit the parties to argue their theories of the case, whether they are misleading, and whether they accurately inform the jury of the applicable law. *Hue v. Farmboy Spray Co.*, 127 Wn.2d 67, 92, 896 P.2d 682 (1995). *Adcox v. Children's Orthopedic Hosp.*, 123 Wn.2d 15, 36, 864 P.2d 921 (1993). And, even if an instruction erroneously states the applicable law, there is no reversible error unless a party can demonstrate prejudice. *Hue*, 127 Wn.2d at 92. An error is prejudicial only where the outcome at trial is affected. *Stiley v. Block*, 130 Wn.2d 486, 499, 925 P.2d 194 (1996).

Here, the plaintiffs incorrectly rely on *State v. Wanrow*, 88 Wn.2d 221, 239, for the proposition that prejudice is presumed when a jury instruction contains an erroneous statement of law. (Appellant's Opening Brief, pg. 36). However, the Supreme Court actually held that prejudice is not presumed if it affirmatively appears that the error was harmless. *Wanrow*, 88 Wn.2d at 237, 559 P.2d 548 (1977). An error on a verdict form is treated similarly; it is reversible only if there is prejudice. *See Hue v. Farmboy Spray Co.*, 127 Wn.2d 67, 92-93, 896 P.2d 682 (1995).

The question becomes, then, if one assumes for the sake of

argument that fault should not be allocated to the mother, were the jury instructions and verdict form so misleading as to be prejudicial to the plaintiffs – or was the error harmless? A review of the instructions shows that any error was harmless because, as they should, the instructions treated Amanda and her mother as separate parties, each with her own instructions. There is no credible reason to believe that, merely because the jury was asked to determine the percentage of fault for the mother – while being instructed not to do so for Amanda – the jury's conclusions about proximate cause and Amanda's claims were prejudicially affected. In fact, the jury was specifically instructed that any contributory negligence of a parent does not affect the claim of the child.

A harmless error is an error which is trivial, or formal, or merely academic, and was not prejudicial to the substantial rights of the party assigning it, and in no way affected the final outcome of the case. *Wanrow*, 88 Wn.2d at 237. Here, the plaintiffs argue that the trial court erred in the instructions relating to the mother's fault. Although it is clear that the court properly instructed the jury, even if this court determines that errors were made in the instructions, they are harmless errors. The plaintiffs have not demonstrated how any such errors impacted the jury's decision that the District was not the proximate cause of any damages to Amanda, and that she was not even damaged at all by the school activities. Any suggestion of prejudice is particularly insupportable when we consider that, because the jury first reached the conclusion that Amanda was not damaged, the jury never even reached the section of the verdict form in which the mother's fault was to be determined. Given that both the District and the mother were found to have been negligent, but neither was the proximate cause of any damages, there is no reason to even suspect that any possible error in the instructions or verdict form were prejudicial. The jury clearly and accurately held that the plaintiffs failed to prove that Amanda was harmed by her activities at school. That conclusion was based on fair instructions that allowed the plaintiffs to argue their theories, and which did not confuse or mislead the jury.

#### C. THE TRIAL COURT USED APPROPRIATE DISCRETION BALANCE то THE ISSUES ADMITTED RELATING то EVIDENCE **PURSUANT TO ER 412.**

The plaintiffs argue that the trial court improperly admitted evidence relating to Amanda's ability to consent to sexual activities, and her history that shows knowledge and consent to such activities. A trial court's ruling on the admissibility of evidence is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *City of Auburn v. Hedlund*, 165 Wn.2d 645, 654, 201 P.3d 315 (2009). A trial court abuses its discretion if the exercise of its discretion is manifestly unreasonable or based upon untenable grounds or reasons. *State v. Powell*, 126 Wn.2d 244, 258, 893 P.2d 615 (1995). Relevant evidence is generally admissible. ER 402. Relevant evidence means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence. ER 401.

In some cases, ER 412 limits certain types of evidence:

(b) The following evidence is not admissible in any civil proceeding involving alleged sexual misconduct except as provided in sections (c) and (d):

- (1) Evidence offered to prove that any alleged victim engaged in other sexual behavior.
- (2) Evidence offered to prove any alleged victim's sexual predisposition.

(c) **Exceptions**. In a civil case, evidence offered to prove the sexual behavior or sexual predisposition of any alleged victim is admissible if it is otherwise admissible under [the evidence] rules and its probative value substantially outweighs the danger of harm to any victim and of unfair prejudice to any party....

ER 412 provides that such evidence is admissible if it is otherwise admissible and its probative value substantially outweighs the danger of harm to any victim and of unfair prejudice to any party. The plaintiffs incorrectly argue that there is a presumption that evidence offered to prove sexual behavior is inadmissible. There is no such presumption.

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